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          1  OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Welcome to this

          3  session of the Council Finance Committee's Executive

          4  Budget hearings. Today we are joined by the Office

          5  of Management and Budget.

          6                 Mr. Harding, I would like to welcome

          7  you and Mr. Klein. I am incredibly impressed with

          8  the obvious significance and importance of your

          9  testimony and my withering cross examination by the

         10  total absence of media and cameras.

         11                 MR. HARDING: Good morning, Mr.

         12  Chairman. It is a pleasure to be here.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Welcome. Mr.

         14  Klein, welcome. Do you have any statements?

         15                 MR. HARDING: I don't, sir. I would

         16  just be happy to answer any questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay. Let me

         18  begin, first of all, on a couple of revenue

         19  questions. Vis-a-vis the tobacco bonds, since our

         20  last discussion, have any significant questions or

         21  proposals been raised concerning the tobacco bond

         22  settlement? Not settlement -- well, settlement, yes.

         23                 MR. HARDING: Perhaps since we last

         24  got together I believe that the City has filed its

         25  brief in the appeal. I don't believe the time has
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          2  come yet for the state to file its response papers.

          3  We continue to try to find the settlement outside of

          4  the courts. We haven't arrived at that yet, and the

          5  staff at OMB and others are meeting with the

          6  underwriters and banks and lawyers on a regular

          7  basis as we get ready to move forward with the

          8  tobacco bond sale, or the tobacco bond organization.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: If you would

         10  indulge me for the moment, what would be the

         11  implications -- I remember the last time when you

         12  testified at the Capital Budget hearings we

         13  discussed the various options and problems that

         14  would result, what would the implication be, and how

         15  would it affect our budget process, if in fact there

         16  is an inability to reach a settlement on a tobacco

         17  monies in the next fiscal year?

         18                 MR. HARDING: Timing is everything in

         19  this matter, but if one were to look at I guess the

         20  worst case scenario, somewhere in the fall of this

         21  year we would be running out of both constitutional

         22  and TFA Authority. We would then have to look

         23  elsewhere in order to continue our capital program,

         24  really the only elsewhere that I can come up with is

         25  to ask Albany to increase the TFA cap, either that
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          2  or suspend our capital program, which I assume is an

          3  option that the Administration doesn't want nor the

          4  Council.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, since we

          6  may perhaps not reasonably, but perhaps we can

          7  assume that Albany before the fall will reach a

          8  budget accord. Like I say, we should make that

          9  assumption, but for the purpose of this discussion

         10  they will be out of session in the fall. Does that

         11  not put us in a very, very precarious position?

         12                 MR. HARDING: Well, I guess there is a

         13  window and the window would probably be between

         14  September and November for when this problem would

         15  develop.

         16                 I believe that based on everything I

         17  have seen and I have spent last Monday

         18  unsuccessfully in Albany, and I have some experience

         19  with their process, I think it is reasonable to

         20  assume that because of what has happened with the

         21  budget in Albany or lack of what is happening with

         22  the budget in Albany, they will be up there in

         23  September.

         24                 It is not unheard of for them to have

         25  sort of a clean-up session in December. Certainly
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          2  the interest of our continuing the capital program

          3  are great enough that should the tobacco deal not

          4  materialize, we would be given due consideration.

          5  So, as far as Albany, the session and timing is

          6  concerned, at this point I am not overly pessimistic

          7  and I also continue to be extremely optimistic that

          8  the tobacco deal is going to go through and it is

          9  going to be a gem of our capital financing

         10  structure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, I certainly

         12  hope you are right.

         13                 Sir, would you set forth for us the

         14  cost of the elimination of the commuter tax from

         15  Fiscal Years 2000 and 2003?

         16                 MR. HARDING: Sure. The number that we

         17  are using right now is $360 million a year, that

         18  number I think is projected to ramp up, very small,

         19  to about 380 in the outyears. So, you take 360 for

         20  the first full year of its affect starting on July

         21  1st of the Year 2000, and multiply that by three or

         22  four years, you are talking a billion two or a

         23  billion five over the life of this plan.

         24                 I would just like to make a note

         25  parenthetically, if I might, that the numbers have
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          2  been floated around in the low 200s, and that is

          3  because those that are calculating that don't

          4  include other states, the loss from the other

          5  states, New Jersey and Connecticut, primarily the

          6  provision of the law which was passed by both houses

          7  of the legislature is per se unconstitutional and

          8  would take about five minutes for a federal court to

          9  rule that way. So, we are looking at it as a loss of

         10  not only the other counties, but the other states

         11  revenues.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, I am glad

         13  you straightened that out because frankly I was

         14  getting a little confused myself. So, the 360 to 380

         15  spread contemplates the elimination of the total

         16  commuter tax from all venues?

         17                 MR. HARDING: Yes, sir.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

         19                 The CUNY voucher program --

         20                 MR. HARDING: The proposal in the

         21  Executive Budget?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Can you clarify

         23  for us by explaining the current CUNY practice in

         24  this area and what you are requesting that they do.

         25  If you can, I mean it may not be information that
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          2  you have today.

          3                 MR. HARDING: Sure. What we are

          4  proposing which is a term and condition which was

          5  laid out in the Executive Budget is that the program

          6  for remediation, which was enacted by the Board of

          7  Trustees be done pursuant to a voucher system where

          8  you are not this person who would be obtaining the

          9  services for remediation, not be bound by a

         10  CUNY-related program but could receive funds for

         11  whatever the fair value is of what CUNY would charge

         12  for the remediation so they could obtain that help

         13  from other sources.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Have you done an

         15  inventory of what other sources are available? Do

         16  you have any idea --

         17                 MR. HARDING: I am advised that there

         18  are other groups, organizations, companies that

         19  would be able to provide that services. I don't have

         20  that with me, but would be happy to provide it as

         21  soon as I have it.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: So there might be

         23  other colleges or other remediation facilities?

         24                 MR. HARDING: Sure. Certainly other

         25  colleges outside of the CUNY system may want to
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          2  offer this services, and there also may be some

          3  private entities that offer this service by way of

          4  preparatory work or remediation work, which is what

          5  this is about.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Is it

          7  contemplated that this would have to be spent in

          8  institutions that are located within the City of New

          9  York, or could they go elsewhere?

         10                 MR. HARDING: The term and condition

         11  does not speak to restrictions geographically, no.

         12  So, if somebody wanted to obtain their services at

         13  Hofstra, I don't know that the term and condition

         14  would prohibit that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: It would not

         16  prohibit it?

         17                 MR. HARDING: No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Robles.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman.

         21                 Good morning, Mr. Budget Director.

         22                 MR. HARDING: Good morning, Council

         23  Member Robles.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: There are two

         25  areas I would like to touch on, one is the dilemma
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          2  during the hearings that I heard once again, and

          3  that is within the HHC and our public health

          4  hospital system, and as you know, during the

          5  hearing, not only in the preliminary budget, but

          6  even in the current hearings, everyone is conceding

          7  that right now the City of New York through its HHC

          8  facilities provide anywhere between 38 percent to 40

          9  percent to those who are uninsured. And given the

         10  managed care, health care new scenario, my concern

         11  is the following: One, any loss of paying patients

         12  only hurts us, increase of non-paying patients using

         13  our facilities again hurts us, not helps us. Then

         14  the question is, how are we, or are you looking at

         15  how are we going to make that up, since I see no

         16  subsidy being projected within the HHC budget.

         17                 MR. HARDING: You mean no increased

         18  subsidy?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Well, let me

         20  just say this. The only subsidy is I am aware of is

         21  a mandate subsidy and that is for prison services,

         22  what have you, but in terms of that has nothing to

         23  do with the area I am referring to. I am referring

         24  to -- the only subsidy right now is what we are

         25  mandated to put in. My concern is these high growing
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          2  numbers of uninsured, that while the law says you

          3  shouldn't anyone who lives in the City of New York

          4  the way I do and grew up in Williamsburg knows that

          5  the voluntary sector knows how to route people and

          6  they wind up in our system, the HHC. So, I just need

          7  to know your thinking in terms of what happens after

          8  the budget since there is no subsidy other than the

          9  prison subsidy to deal with that large number of

         10  uninsured?

         11                 MR. HARDING: We work with HHC all the

         12  time to make sure that they have the funds necessary

         13  to provide the services that are essential, and

         14  certainly paying for services of indigent

         15  individuals that have no insurance through other

         16  means is a cornerstone of what HHC is about. There

         17  has been no evidence that I am aware of that now or

         18  anywhere in the future there is a risk of those

         19  people who can't pay for their services elsewhere

         20  who are not being able to do it. We are working with

         21  HHC, as far as providing them alternative methods of

         22  achieving funds that they may need in the future.

         23  The one that we continue to push for is the Dish

         24  Max, we were successful last year in getting both

         25  houses of the State Legislature to pass it, the
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          2  Governor vetoed it, we are not giving up the ghost

          3  on that one and we will continue to pursue it again.

          4  That I think would help HHC to the tune of about $15

          5  million. You know, it is important that we look

          6  elsewhere as well when funds are available for

          7  assistance.

          8                 We are nowhere near maximizing the

          9  amounts that we are entitled to, and I want to

         10  underscore that word "entitled to" from the state.

         11  We also need to make sure that the monies that flow

         12  to HHC for reimbursement are paid for on an

         13  equitable basis, as the State renews the entire

         14  methodology for which they reimburse hospitals. It

         15  is terribly important, and I think that has to

         16  happen by December of this year. So, we are going

         17  to, apropos of Chairman Berman's question, they

         18  have, the legislature has to do that, so assuming

         19  they wait until the 11th hour to do the

         20  reimbursement mechanisms, we can always come and

         21  bring TFA. We don't, HHC doesn't get a fair share of

         22  that reimbursement and we have to revisit that. So,

         23  if there are funds available, and if the funds

         24  available really represent equity, we are not asking

         25  for any more than we are entitled to. I think it is
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          2  always important that the port of first call should

          3  be there, and then absent that, if we strike out or

          4  if we don't receive what we are entitled to we

          5  should look elsewhere.

          6                 So, I am optimistic that we should

          7  continue that fight before we move elsewhere.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me make a

          9  suggestion, Mr. Budget Director, because I must tell

         10  you that I am prepared as Chairman of the Committee

         11  and this Council to join you and the City in terms

         12  of urging and encouraging to tap into any funds that

         13  we are entitled to. My dilemma is, I must tell you,

         14  that those issues have been addressed when we

         15  initiated it.

         16                 MR. HARDING: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES:  That is why I

         18  don't understand this collaboration which sometimes

         19  we talk about, but I will leave it at that.

         20                 Let me go into another area which is

         21  the CCRB which troubled me during the hearings too.

         22                 In the preliminary budget, the Board

         23  Chair and Executive Director, when they came before

         24  us they expressed sentiment that the Board's budget

         25  needed to be substantially increased in the Year
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          2  2000, above the level proposed in that preliminary

          3  budget. However, when the Executive Budget was put

          4  out, there was no budget request I believe to OMB.

          5  Where do we stand with that budget? Have they

          6  submitted their budget request to you?

          7                 And if so, during the process, from

          8  the Preliminary budget to the Executive budget, your

          9  people were in the room, the question is, was there

         10  any attempt to bring them in and say why have you

         11  not submitted yet, and if they did, what did they

         12  submit?

         13                 MR. HARDING: As a rule, and I don't

         14  mean to be flip about this, OMB doesn't generally

         15  ask agencies why they haven't given us requests to

         16  spend additional money, if they don't call us we are

         17  please about that.

         18                 I saw a document maybe a week or ten

         19  days ago which may have very well have been in

         20  reaction to testimony that the CCRB gave to this

         21  body, where they asked for additional money and

         22  additional heads. I don't recall seeing that as we

         23  were preparing the January Financial Plan, nor do I

         24  recall seeing that as we were preparing the

         25  Executive Budget. So, three weeks or so after the
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          2  submission of the Mayor's Executive Budget I first

          3  saw that there was some requests, and I truly can't

          4  say to you, sir, that it was a formal request, just

          5  an articulation of dollars needed or wanted. That is

          6  all that I have seen vis-a-vis the CCRB.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I guess the

          8  only dilemma I have is that as you know, in the City

          9  there are certain agencies that seem to stand up and

         10  stand out, and of course the Police Department being

         11  one and the CCRB being the other, and it just

         12  troubles me because we are trying to, and for some

         13  of us who legislatively supported this new all

         14  Civilian Complaint Review Board and we are trying to

         15  make it work, and I am not putting you on the spot,

         16  but I think it is like a flag that goes up, I think

         17  as we deal with the Police Department, I think the

         18  CCRB is just as important because they need to work

         19  together. The criticism has been either the lack of

         20  moving cases forward and then kept bouncing back and

         21  forth from the police and then CCRB. Again, I am not

         22  trying to single you out, but I would suspect that

         23  that is an area that we should be looking at.

         24                 MR. HARDING: Let me make this

         25  declarative statement and tell you sort of the
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          2  policy, which I think most people in this room would

          3  agree with.

          4                 First of all, the budget for the

          5  CCRB, since it became a stand alone entity I think

          6  in Fiscal Year 1994, has increased more dramatically

          7  than any other entity or agency or office that I can

          8  think of both clearly on a percentage basis.

          9                 Secondly, while I have not received a

         10  formal request for additional funds to be provided

         11  to the CCRB, I did see that document, and my memory

         12  is that the most significant request in dollars

         13  related to the increased heads at CCRB.

         14                 CCRB, as all City agencies in office,

         15  have an established headcount pursuant to last

         16  year's budget. CCRB is nowhere near the filling of

         17  their incumbent headcount, and regardless of the

         18  agency or office, whatever any individual may think

         19  about that agency and office in a positive or

         20  negative way, but clearly the work of the CCRB is

         21  important.

         22                 Prudence dictates that if an agency

         23  has a vacancy -- strike that. If an agency has a

         24  headcount of X and they are well below X, before

         25  they ask to go above their agency headcount, they
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          2  fill those slots that they have already been

          3  authorized to fill.

          4                 Once they have done that, if they can

          5  then make a case, a compelling case that they need

          6  additional heads, we would be happy to entertain

          7  that, and they should discuss that with you.

          8                 But they are below headcount right

          9  now and there is no force that is keeping them below

         10  that headcount. We are not denying them the

         11  opportunity to hide things and people like that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 MR. HARDING: Thank you, sir.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Harding?

         16                 MR. HARDING: Yes, sir.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Robles.

         19                 Is there anything on the sale or the

         20  lease of the World Trade Center?

         21                 MR. HARDING: No, I have not heard

         22  anything about the sale or the lease of the World

         23  Trade Center for some time.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: One may assume

         25  that the sale would of course have some kind of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            18

          1  OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

          2  impact upon the property tax revenues?

          3                 MR. HARDING: Yes. In fact, the value

          4  of the sale or the lease, depending on how they want

          5  to couch it in large measure would be dictated by

          6  what the City deems the transaction to be. Because

          7  whether the pilot for the Trade Center continues or

          8  not, I think would have a terrific impact on the

          9  sale price.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Apparently.

         11                 Now, my recollection is and my

         12  information and supply to me is that the Board of

         13  Education's Collective Bargaining will cost the City

         14  $225 million in Fiscal 2000 and $308 million in

         15  2001. The CUNY collective bargaining needs are $24

         16  million. How do you differentiate between your

         17  rejection of the CUNY appropriation but your

         18  acceptance of the Board of Ed proposal?

         19                 MR. HARDING: There are -- I mean, for

         20  some years now we have followed a pattern of

         21  determining that there are covered agencies and

         22  non-covered agencies. CUNY, OTB and HHC and I think

         23  one or two others are deemed to be covered agencies

         24  and they should be providing their own collective --

         25  to the extent they have collective agreements, the
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          2  cost of those collective bargaining agreements

          3  should be paid for out of their budget, we do not

          4  make that same determination with the City's Board

          5  of Education.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: No, I understand

          7  that that is the result, but what went into the

          8  reasoning that determined that CUNY was not to be

          9  considered in the same way as the Board of Ed?

         10                 Is there a standard?

         11                 MR. HARDING: The answer is I don't

         12  know the answer to that question. I did not help

         13  formulate that policy, I don't have a problem

         14  implementing the policy certainly, but CUNY

         15  certainly has resources that it can generate from

         16  outside, state assistance, tuition, things like

         17  that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, Board of Ed

         19  doesn't have state assistance but they do have

         20  outside availability of money from the state and the

         21  federal government also.

         22                 MR. HARDING: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right, but I

         24  accept your response that you don't know the

         25  criteria, and that is a fair answer.
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          2                 Project 2000. Where is the City with

          3  respect to being Year 2000 compliant? Are there any

          4  critical functions that are at risk for not being so

          5  compliant? And have you experienced any problems in

          6  implementing FMS as opposed to the FISA?

          7                 MR. HARDING: Mr. Klein will be happy

          8  to answer that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I wish I had a

         10  Mr. Klein.

         11                 MR. KLEIN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Stu.

         13                 MR. KLEIN: In terms of the

         14  implementation of FMS we are currently working with

         15  the Comptroller and FISA to implement the budget and

         16  accounting system on July 1st of this year. We have

         17  implemented the budget system for the publication of

         18  the Executive Budget.

         19                 For a system of this magnitude I

         20  would say that the implementation has gone better

         21  than expected.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, on a

         23  percentage basis, I mean how far along towards

         24  compliance are we?

         25                 MR. KLEIN: Well, what I have been
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          2  talking about so far was the implementation of FMS

          3  2000, which is the City's new budget and accounting

          4  system.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay.

          6                 MR. KLEIN: Citywide, I am not certain

          7  of the exact percentage. I think we are in very good

          8  shape. I could provide your staff with a very

          9  detailed overview. I am not aware of any significant

         10  problems that are going to occur in 2000.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right. Now,

         12  going to the next part of the question, which is the

         13  Y2K compliance problem, how far along are we?

         14                 MR. KLEIN: That is what I was

         15  addressing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I thought you

         17  just said --

         18                 MR. KLEIN: No, I started out with

         19  FMS.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Oh, okay.

         21                 MR. KLEIN: Then moved to Y2K.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, Stu, what

         23  are we talking about now?

         24                 MR. KLEIN: Y2K.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Okay, Y2K.
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          2                 MR. KLEIN: Y2K, and I believe you

          3  probably had testimony before the Council before in

          4  terms of the rather extraordinary efforts the City

          5  has put in on this problem. I think we are overall

          6  in very good shape. I am not going to say there

          7  won't be any problems, I am certain there will be.

          8  But I think we have done everything we can to

          9  minimize those problems.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Is it fair to say

         11  therefore that we do not have to make any

         12  contingency plans such as some of the smaller cities

         13  are stocking up on food and water, et cetera? I

         14  mean, you don't think New York City has to go that

         15  far, do you?

         16                 MR. KLEIN: I don't believe we have to

         17  go that far, however, of course as prudent managers

         18  we are making contingency plans. There is a whole

         19  effort going on to detail contingency plans for

         20  almost every application. As I have said, we have

         21  done an extraordinary amount of planning in this

         22  area.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: I know that we

         24  have also provided an extraordinary amount of money

         25  to accomplish that.
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          2                 MR. KLEIN: Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Yes.

          4                 MR. KLEIN: Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Therefore, we can

          6  send a message out to the workforce, New York City

          7  workforce that their pensions are at peace and that

          8  their salary will be forthcoming?

          9                 MR. KLEIN: The City's payroll system

         10  has already been converted. It has been tested, it

         11  is Year 2000 compliant. The pension systems I

         12  believe are in the same shape, however, they are

         13  under the auspices of the City Comptroller.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, you know,

         15  as a person that receives a check every two weeks, I

         16  want to thank you for that information, it is

         17  certainly helpful.

         18                 Okay, Mr. Leffler and then Mr.

         19  Golden.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Good morning,

         21  Mr. Harding.

         22                 MR. HARDING: Good morning, Mr.

         23  Leffler.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You know, one

         25  of our activities at the Council is to try to find
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          2  where there might be more money to restore some of

          3  the cuts and also to facilitate or to enable some of

          4  the tax cuts that are hoped for.

          5                 One matter that might be looked at

          6  are the stabilization accounts. I think it is $420

          7  million in this year's budget. Could you give us

          8  your analysis as to the possibility of somewhat

          9  reducing the stabilization account and, you know, in

         10  light of projected revenues realistically over the

         11  next year, taking account of underwritings and the

         12  like that have occurred and been processed so the

         13  likely financial services industry gains, recent

         14  history of that account -- I mean, why not set an

         15  account of say $300 million or even less, rather

         16  than $420 million?

         17                 MR. HARDING: If I may, I think your

         18  question has two parts to it. The first part is the

         19  need to find additional revenues, more additional

         20  revenues that have been anticipated prior to about

         21  9:30 last Monday because the commuter tax, and I

         22  guess secondly the issue that you are asking us

         23  about our projections for revenue; is that fair?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Well, no, not

         25  really. What I am really interested in is why in
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          2  your judgment do we need a $420 million

          3  stabilization account for the next year?

          4                 MR. HARDING: Well, let me back up,

          5  the issue of having a stabilization account is one

          6  that was reached between the Mayor and the Speaker

          7  of the City Council three years ago, I believe.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But why $420

          9  million?

         10                 MR. HARDING: I beg your pardon?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Why $420

         12  million rather than say $300 million?

         13                 MR. HARDING: Because of projections

         14  that exist for gaps in the outyears, because of the

         15  unwillingness to jump on bandwagons --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: The real

         17  issue then is the extent to which we really plan to

         18  roll over the stabilization account into the

         19  outyears.

         20                 MR. HARDING: I was going to say there

         21  were at least two issues. One is the rolling over

         22  provision, and you would see that in the financial

         23  plan, how that budget stabilization account is

         24  rolled over, and the second issue is, both as

         25  regards to the general reserve and to the budget
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          2  stabilization account and to the projections for

          3  revenues, it is the opinion of the administration

          4  that it is always prudent to be conservative in

          5  revenue adjustments, that assuming you exceed those

          6  amounts, those amounts can be recognized at any

          7  point during the year, and we would have to mod

          8  those amounts in and deal with the legislative body

          9  on it as we have over the last several years. But

         10  the danger of overestimating revenues and winding up

         11  short is so great and could have so adversely

         12  impacted the City's fiscal strength, that at this

         13  point, as we have for the last several years, it is

         14  better to be more prudent than it is more

         15  aggressive.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right. But it

         17  is always a matter of judgment, and it seems to me

         18  that you haven't really presented us a convincing

         19  analysis as to why this judgment is not overly

         20  conservative, particularly with respect to the next

         21  fiscal year.

         22                 There is a cost to being so

         23  conservative, and the cost is the people who depend

         24  upon Youth Services, Libraries, Cultural

         25  Institutions and all sorts of other City services
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          2  which you propose to cut won't have access to this.

          3                 It seems to me that the risk of their

          4  being heard far exceeds the risk of the bond holders

          5  not being paid, and I would say there is

          6  considerable interest that the bond holders do get

          7  paid, but there is no 101 percent certainty in this

          8  world, and it seems to me that even without a 420

          9  million stabilization account in the next year, they

         10  will be paid. It seems to me what you are really

         11  trying to do is say, like looking at page seven of

         12  the Mayor's Budget message, you have a remaining gap

         13  of $1.7 billion. So the question is whether you want

         14  to make that a 1.8 billion for the next year and the

         15  Year 2001 and deal with it then or not, that is the

         16  real thing. And it seems to me that, you know, the

         17  slight increase there might well be handled at some

         18  time in the future and what you are doing has a

         19  considerable cost.

         20                 MR. HARDING: Okay, I could not

         21  disagree more that ensuring, not that my opinion is

         22  per se dispositive in this, since I believe state

         23  law would require the payment of the bonds by

         24  operation of law be made before any of the other

         25  services that you are talking about. So, while you
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          2  may have a different philosophy than we do as to

          3  what is --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I want the

          5  bond holders to be paid even more than you, I assure

          6  you.

          7                 MR. HARDING: Okay. But I don't want

          8  to be in a position, publicly, privately, anywhere

          9  else, I don't want to be in a position of pitting

         10  the payment of bonds to any other service that may

         11  or may not exist in the City of New York. A)

         12  constitutionally we have to pay those first, so any

         13  other discussion is very nice and it would be great

         14  in the symposium but doesn't bear anything in

         15  relation to the laws; 2) I think that our budgeting

         16  over the last several years has shown that there is

         17  an approval of what we are doing by those in the

         18  outside world as it relates to the increasing and

         19  the rating of our bonds. We continue to want to do

         20  that. That has the effect of paying less to go into

         21  the market. If you pay less to go into the market,

         22  there is more money available.

         23                 Now that there is more money

         24  available, we can have the discussion as to whether

         25  we should put that more money in the budget

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            29

          1  OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

          2  stabilization account, or put that more money into

          3  the services that you would like to see paid. But if

          4  our rating is such that we have to pay more to go

          5  into the market, and chances are we no longer have

          6  the ability to have that conversation.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay.

          8                 You know, basically what the City

          9  officials are confronted with now with how to cope

         10  with the $360 million revenue loss in the next year.

         11                 MR. HARDING: Absolutely.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER:  It seems to

         13  me therefore that some of the things that we had

         14  done in terms of having a high stabilization account

         15  and other things like that have to be reappraised,

         16  and I think we ought to move on. If you give me a

         17  more convenient analysis, I would appreciate it.

         18                 One of the issues here, a relatively

         19  big money issue deals with the Police Department and

         20  the acceleration of the proposed hiring class.

         21                 MR. HARDING: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Of 1,589 into

         23  the next year. When Commissioner Safir was before

         24  the Public Safety Committee the other day, I asked

         25  him -- first I told him that I actually am
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          2  provisionally in favor of this, but to sell this to

          3  all of the people, it seems to me you have to have a

          4  strategic plan as to how you are going to deploy and

          5  what you are planning to do with the additional

          6  1,589 officers.

          7                 Do you have a copy of the strategic

          8  plan, because I sought to get it and I was not able

          9  to get it, anymore than I was able to get the

         10  stop-and-frisk reports. His usual approach is

         11  something like we will consider it, we will look

         12  into it, we will think about it, and then, you know,

         13  as with Elliot Spitzer suing for the stop-and-frisk

         14  reports, which we also raised we are still

         15  interested in that, and the strategic plan; so do

         16  you have a specific strategic plan so that you know

         17  how the 1,589 are --

         18                 MR. HARDING: I do not.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You do not.

         20                 Then how do you know the Police

         21  Department requires exactly 1,589 rather than say

         22  750 or 300 or the like?

         23                 MR. HARDING: Because after six years,

         24  when I see the work of the Police Department and I

         25  see the results that they have had over the last six
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          2  years and I compare it to what the City had as far

          3  as the crime rate over the last 50 years before

          4  that, and when I compare it over what the crime

          5  reductions are in other large cities and other large

          6  states around the country, I at some point eschew

          7  expertise to those that operate the Police

          8  Department and believe that they know what they are

          9  doing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You have much

         11  more faith and expertise than I do, that is probably

         12  because you have been in City government much less

         13  than I have.

         14                 If you don't have a copy of the

         15  strategic plan, don't assume that there is one, that

         16  they have the expertise, that they know what they

         17  are going to do with everything. It is quite

         18  possible that they will only decide what they are

         19  going to do after they get it.

         20                 There are many ways, and if you want

         21  to make a hard-headed --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler, will

         23  you wrap the question, please?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: This is

         25  important.
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          2                 If you want to make a hard-headed set

          3  of decisions with respect to the best use of money,

          4  without seeing how the 1,589 police officers are

          5  going to be used, you are not really being realistic

          6  and faithful to what the obligations really should

          7  be.

          8                 There are other ways, for example, of

          9  even promoting public safety in the City which might

         10  cost less in terms of drug treatment and the like

         11  for people who are involved in the criminal justice

         12  system in one way or another.

         13                 So, it seems to me, if you want to

         14  sell this City to most Council Members, you have a

         15  job to do that really has not been discharged, a

         16  professional job in terms of presenting what is the

         17  bang for the buck, what will you get from these

         18  1,589 officers.

         19                 I have more questions on the second

         20  round.

         21                 MR. HARDING: Just for the record I

         22  want to make clear, and I am sure that the Council

         23  member knows that but for others that don't, what is

         24  being discussed here is the acceleration of a class

         25  by six months, it is not the additional --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: No, that is

          3  what I said.

          4                 MR. HARDING: The way that your

          5  question is couched, one might reasonably deduce

          6  that we are adding in perpetuity 1,589 tops. It is

          7  an --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: No, you are

          9  adding in the next fiscal year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler, let

         11  the question be responded to, because we have to go

         12  on.

         13                 MR. HARDING: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14  I am done. I am okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler, if

         16  you like I can return to you later.

         17                 Mr. Golden.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair.

         20                 Good morning, Mr. Harding, ladies and

         21  gentlemen.

         22                 MR. HARDING: Good morning.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: The school

         24  capital, could you please give me the points of

         25  contention between the Board of Education and the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            34

          1  OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

          2  estimates on the increment building aid over the

          3  course of the capital plan and OMB's current

          4  estimates?

          5                 MR. HARDING: Yes, as it relates to

          6  building aid, the Administration of the Board of

          7  Education believes that over the next five years,

          8  but particularly the last three years of the five

          9  years, the total that they would be able to get in

         10  increased building aid is $787 million.

         11                 Our estimates are that they would get

         12  an increased $300 million, so that leaves a dispute

         13  of $487 million.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay, the 300

         15  million that is available for the federal funds for

         16  the support of the $7 billion capital plan, how

         17  secure do you believe that is?

         18                 MR. HARDING: Very. That is why it

         19  ended up in the low risk pool and it was included in

         20  the $7 billion.

         21                 The $7 billion really is the amounts

         22  that we believe are low risk, you know, done, put it

         23  in the bank, we are very confident of it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Very good. Has

         25  the City and the Board of Education had any
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          2  conversation as to the finance of the Chancellor's

          3  plan for the ending social promotion?

          4                 MR. HARDING: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And there are

          6  dollars for that?

          7                 MR. HARDING: It is not there yet. We

          8  have not arrived at a figure. Apropos of my

          9  conversation with Council Member Robles, there is at

         10  this point our position that there is no need to

         11  assume that the City should have to undertake the

         12  entire cost of this, that there may be monies

         13  available from other sources from state resources,

         14  maybe the Board can find resources. So, what we need

         15  to do is really two things, one is to find the

         16  aggregate amount it is going to cost, starting next

         17  fiscal year to do the social promotion program, and

         18  then secondly, to receive the resources that we can

         19  find in order to pay for them.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you,

         21  gentlemen.

         22                 MR. HARDING: Thank you, Council

         23  member.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: The plan for

         25  ending social promotion, I assume that that plan
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          2  carries with it some fiscal implications? And if so,

          3  has there been an accord reached between your office

          4  and the Board of Ed?

          5                 MR. HARDING: I don't think there has

          6  been an accord reached which is definitive, Mr.

          7  Chairman, no.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Just conceptually

          9  as to the implementation of the program?

         10                 MR. HARDING: I don't feel comfortable

         11  giving you a figure right now. We are still in

         12  negotiations with the Board of Education as to the

         13  total amount, and then of course we would want to

         14  have a discussion about ways of achieving getting

         15  that money. But we should -- it is a large program,

         16  it involves a lot of students and we want to arrive

         17  at the cost and the methodologies for doing that as

         18  soon as possible. So, I have reason to believe that

         19  next month we should be able to get this thing

         20  wrapped up, as far as the cost is concerned.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Councilman

         22  Perkins.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         24  Good morning.

         25                 MR. HARDING: Good morning, sir.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The Mayor is

          3  proposing not to give money to CUNY without a

          4  voucher program being offered, are you familiar with

          5  that?

          6                 MR. HARDING: Yes, that was asked and

          7  answered a few minutes ago.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, okay.

          9  Well, would you answer it again for me since I

         10  wasn't here?

         11                 MR. HARDING: Sure.

         12                 Are you asking me to explain that

         13  program?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

         15                 MR. HARDING: The program is that

         16  since the CUNY Board of Trustees implemented last

         17  year let's say a remediation program, the question

         18  is who would be providing those remediation

         19  services. The term and condition that appears in the

         20  Executive Budget says that the remediation service

         21  need not be done exclusively by CUNY, that you could

         22  create a check the voucher system so that others,

         23  other colleges, private institutions that offer

         24  similar services, could provide those services to

         25  the students and that that program, that remediation
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          2  program not be the exclusive province of CUNY.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And how much

          4  would that program cost?

          5                 MR. HARDING: Sixty or $70 million.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And that

          7  would come out of the CUNY budget?

          8                 MR. HARDING: Yes, but CUNY is

          9  prepared, just by way of going back for a second,

         10  CUNY Board of Trustees has already voted to do the

         11  remediation program and therefore ius prepared --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: They have

         13  already voted to do the remediation program with

         14  vouchers?

         15                 MR. HARDING: No. Vouchers wouldn't

         16  theoretically cost any more than the incumbent

         17  remediation, because remediation would be developed

         18  on a per student basis. So to the extent that CUNY

         19  isn't performing the service, it doesn't have the

         20  cost as it relates to that student and those

         21  students, that cost would then be passed onto

         22  another college or a private entity.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: CUNY has been

         24  doing remediation for awhile, for years.

         25                 MR. HARDING: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, when you

          3  say that the Board has approved a remediation

          4  program, are you talking about the new program that

          5  the Mayor is suggesting?

          6                 MR. HARDING: Yes, sir.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

          8  you, the Mayor also suggested that money will not be

          9  given to CUNY unless certain national standards are

         10  complied with in terms of the remediation program.

         11                 MR. HARDING: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And when

         13  Acting Chancellor Kimmich testified --

         14                 MR. HARDING: Yes, I know him.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: He suggested

         16  that there is no such thing as national standards by

         17  which to measure, and there is no such thing as a

         18  national test; what did you have in mind?

         19                 MR. HARDING: The name of the test has

         20  not been articulated in the term and condition,

         21  there are preparatory exams, national preparatory

         22  exams that are given all the time, it doesn't have

         23  to be an SAT, it doesn't have to be a PSAT. There

         24  are preparatory exams that are given by many

         25  companies around the country that could be used or
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          2  cannabalized, some version of it, and offered by

          3  CUNY, to determine if the student is ready to

          4  achieve college work or to begin college work.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It was also

          6  suggested that --

          7                 MR. HARDING: If I could also

          8  elaborate on that for one second?

          9                 Apropos of the CUNY discussion, you

         10  also have the issue as it goes back to social

         11  promotion, right? I mean, if you follow the logic of

         12  the social promotion issue, at some point in order

         13  to determine if the student needs to go into summer

         14  school, and then once the student has gone into

         15  summer school, you then make the determination that

         16  the student proceeds to the next grade or remains in

         17  the incumbent grade, you are going to need to

         18  develop some test that is accepted and unified

         19  around the City to make that determination.

         20                 So, there is a consistency about

         21  that, as there is a consistency about whether the

         22  student is ready to achieve college work.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Apparently

         24  they have tests already that they are using that

         25  seem to be at least as good as so-called national
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          2  standards; why would we want to suggest otherwise?

          3                 MR. HARDING: The answer is that I am

          4  not familiar with the incumbent test CUNY is using

          5  if CUNY can make a compelling case to the Board of

          6  Trustees of the Administration that that test is

          7  satisfactory, and it is used universally, meaning

          8  the students in each of the colleges are using the

          9  same tests because you don't want to give a benefit

         10  to one community college that you wouldn't to

         11  another, you need to have a unified testing system,

         12  it is possible that test will be satisfactory, I

         13  just don't know enough about it to speak to the

         14  issue.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right,

         16  thank you.

         17                 MR. HARDING: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Perkins, are

         19  you finished?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Yes, thank

         23  you.

         24                 If there is additional tax reduction,

         25  can you slowly explain what are your like top three
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          2  priorities?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler, I

          4  don't know about the Budget Director, but I cannot

          5  hear you, so can you speak more directly into the

          6  microphone, please.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: If there is

          8  additional tax reduction, can you explain what are

          9  your top couple or three proposed tax reductions at

         10  this point and how much they would involve?

         11                 MR. HARDING: I am not prepared to

         12  discuss that. I think that I need to spend a little

         13  bit more time reviewing the impact of the revenue

         14  loss.

         15                 Certainly the Mayor and others in the

         16  Administration need to make a determination as to

         17  what those priorities are. At some element you have

         18  to make a determination about who the beneficiaries

         19  of these programs are and you certainly don't want

         20  to hurt innocent victims of recklessness that

         21  occurred 165 miles away, that certainly would be

         22  something we would take a look at.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER:  But it is a

         24  week already that that has happened.

         25                 MR. HARDING: Unlike Albany,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            43

          1  OFFICE OF MANAGEMENT AND BUDGET

          2  Councilman, we don't establish tax policy in a week,

          3  we need to be a little bit more prudent about it.

          4                 So, while we are under a rush to

          5  judgment because we clearly want to adopt a budget

          6  on time, and we want to do it within a consensus

          7  manner with the City Council, from my view I would

          8  like to be as prudent as possible about it, in

          9  contradistinction to what I saw happening in Albany

         10  last week.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I read a good

         12  deal about taxes being reduced to supposedly spur

         13  the economy.

         14                 MR. HARDING: I read about that this

         15  morning, as well.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         17                 On the other hand, there is the

         18  question of, you know, the reliance factor of say

         19  the co-op and condo owners who didn't think that the

         20  relief we extended over the last three years was

         21  going to disappear now.

         22                 MR. HARDING: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: So how do you

         24  weigh one vis-a-vis the other?

         25                 MR. HARDING: In fact, that is exactly
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          2  what I was talking about when I said discussions

          3  about who the beneficiaries of these tax cuts are,

          4  and recognizing and making a value judgment about

          5  what you are going to do about it.

          6                 I mean, there was nothing prior to

          7  last week that indicated to me that any entity that

          8  would have some say in the implementation of this

          9  budget was opposed to the continuation of the co-op

         10  condo tax. The Mayor included it in his January

         11  Plan, he included it in his executive budget, from

         12  the testimony that I have had here on the January

         13  Plan, in discussions I have had with the Chairman's

         14  staff, clearly I believe it was the consensus of the

         15  Council, they supported the continuation of the

         16  co-op tax, so you are exactly right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: With the

         18  Police Department, their overtime budget, on

         19  Saturday morning here our Finance staff suggested

         20  that we reduce unit of appropriation 001 to provide

         21  the 79 million in overtime for the Police Department

         22  in Fiscal Year 2000.

         23                 Now, the overtime last year was 147

         24  million and this year it is running at the pace of

         25  153 million --
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          2                 MR. HARDING: Right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: What do you

          4  know that I don't know which would convince you that

          5  we could come in next year at 79 million dollars, if

          6  we are coming in this year at 153 million dollars?

          7                 MR. HARDING: Nothing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But the basic

          9  objective, it seems to me, that they are trying to

         10  do of getting you to tighten up on overtime, even if

         11  not to that extent, is meritorious, and yet you seem

         12  to have eliminated a lot of the pegs you have

         13  proposed in the past with respect to overtime; what

         14  --

         15                 MR. HARDING: The number that we have

         16  -- go ahead. I am sorry.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: My basic

         18  point is, why can't you get from them a realistic

         19  plan to reduce their overtime in a way that would be

         20  convincing to people. I mean, even, we know about --

         21  we don't need, you know, repetition of stuff about

         22  the difficulty of projecting overtime and the like,

         23  but still as a management matter it has gone up in

         24  absolute terms, so why don't you impose controls to

         25  reduce it?
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          2                 MR. HARDING: I don't accept the

          3  notion that we are not doing it. I think that the

          4  overtime budget within the Police Department in this

          5  Fiscal Year is $150 million in change. The executive

          6  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: 153, okay.

          8                 MR. HARDING: Okay, 156.3, if we are

          9  going to be exact.

         10                 The Executive Budget has an overtime

         11  budget of 111.7 million dollars, so that is the

         12  reduction.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But with no

         14  convincing strategy that I could see, having tried

         15  to go through it and go through it with the staff as

         16  to how it is going to be achieved.

         17                 MR. HARDING: I am having trouble,

         18  Councilman, with the signals that you are sending

         19  me, because on one hand you started off the question

         20  by asking me to comment on a proposal that was done

         21  on Saturday by the staff here, your staff, to reduce

         22  it to $79 million, and now I am telling you that the

         23  Executive Budget anticipates reducing it by 40 some

         24  odd million dollars, we are showing the opportunity

         25  of reducing this, we are going to do it
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          2  incrementally because there is no question that we

          3  share the view that we would like to reduce overtime

          4  to a manageable figure.

          5                 We are not going to have it, assuming

          6  that in a fiscal year, the needs of the Police

          7  Department are going to be halved.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: But you see,

          9  I have seen no more convincing case from you than

         10  from them as to what the ultimate figure will be, it

         11  is all seat of the pants, like so much of this

         12  stuff. It is as though you have delegated to the

         13  Police Department to do what they, you know, to run

         14  the show here.

         15                 I am not convinced it is going to

         16  come in $40 million less. And therefore I can

         17  certainly see how some people would say, well, 40

         18  million? Why not, you know, knock it down 70

         19  million?

         20                 MR. HARDING: Okay.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: What you

         22  should be doing as part of this process is giving us

         23  a coherent plan with reductions that we can have

         24  confidence in.

         25                 MR. HARDING: Once a number is put in
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          2  the budget, whether it is an increase or a decrease,

          3  but particularly with reference to a decrease, the

          4  budget office of the City of New York has an

          5  obligation to see to it that that number comes in.

          6                 So, if the Executive Budget proposes

          7  to reduce an amount, overtime, by 40 some odd

          8  million dollars, it is our office's obligation to do

          9  whatever we can to make sure that that number comes

         10  in and doesn't go over.

         11                 If we don't do it, there are either

         12  supervening subsequent acts which force that number

         13  to go up or we need to do a better job. To the

         14  extent that overtime has gone up proportionately

         15  over the last number of years, we need to do a

         16  better job of monitoring it, and I will make that

         17  commitment to you now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Thank you. Is

         19  there any more?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I am not

         21  finished, are there other questions?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Well, I would

         23  like to just go on, so if you would mind asking one

         24  more question, please, sir.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You know, in
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          2  terms of this being an obligation, it is an

          3  obligation which is never honored. Year after year

          4  it comes in over the amount and you have less grant

          5  money coming in you project next year, so you have

          6  it down for $111 million rather than $150 million.

          7  If you get more grant money, again, as this year you

          8  may not impose the same controls.

          9                 Again, I think that you should run a

         10  tighter ship here.

         11                 With respect to the CCRB, Mr. Robles

         12  was asking when I came in about supplementing the

         13  CCRB budget, and I think he said that they are

         14  significantly below headcount now, so until they

         15  reach their headcount it doesn't make sense, I think

         16  it is fair to say, to discuss the increase.

         17                 MR. HARDING: I also said that I

         18  didn't have a formal submission either at the

         19  January Plan as we were preparing exec to do that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         21                 The testimony a couple of days ago at

         22  Public Safety was that in fact they fully expect

         23  that they will come in at headcount by the end of

         24  June in one month, so that the, I think it is 153

         25  people in the agency, which is budgeted for, they
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          2  now have I think 135, they expect to come in at that

          3  number.

          4                 It seems to me therefore that if you

          5  are going to plan for the next year it does make

          6  sense to take a look at their plans, their hires and

          7  the like and you will see that they do plan to come

          8  in on budget.

          9                 MR. HARDING: If I handled the

         10  overtime budget the way you would like me to handle

         11  the CCRB budget, then the overtime budget of the

         12  Police Department would be $300 million.

         13                 I need to see that there is some

         14  likelihood that an agency that has not reached its

         15  headcount capacity now well into the 11th month of

         16  the fiscal year, will do it by the end of the 12th

         17  month of the fiscal year.

         18                 I haven't seen that yet--

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Well --

         20                 MR. HARDING: Let me finish, if I may,

         21  Mr. Councilman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Just a second.

         23                 MR. HARDING: If you are going to ask

         24  the question and answer it then --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Just a second,
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          2  Joe. Everybody stop. Until such time as there is a

          3  change, and that could easily happen, I am still

          4  chair of this meeting, and in the meantime now, Mr.

          5  Leffler, admit the response. Sir, Mr. Director,

          6  please respond.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I don't think

          8  we should permit responses which are not informative

          9  and just designed to waste time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler, when

         11  you chair the Committee, you will determine what is

         12  appropriate as a response. Mr. Budget Director, do

         13  you have anything else that you want to add to your

         14  response?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: The point --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler,

         17  excuse me, one moment. We will get back to you in a

         18  moment.

         19                 MR. HARDING:  The Office of

         20  Management and Budget reviews and approves hires

         21  that are made by City agencies in offices. I am

         22  unaware that there are requests by the CCRB, as of

         23  May 24th, I haven't been to the office yet this

         24  morning, to fill the vacancies that they have in

         25  their budget for the incumbent fiscal year.
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          2                 With five or six weeks to go I don't

          3  know that that will exist. If it does, we will take

          4  a look at the vacancies that they are filling to get

          5  to their authorized headcount for this fiscal year

          6  and if a request is made to OMB by the CCRB to fund

          7  additional monies, we will take a serious look at it

          8  because we view the CCRB as providing a critical

          9  service.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Leffler, if

         11  you have any response to that, please make it brief,

         12  we have to go on. There is another meeting that is

         13  going to start right after this.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         15                 You can often see the extent to which

         16  their hires will increase by offers that are

         17  extended and the like. What they have said is they

         18  will reach their headcount by the end, and I think

         19  they say that with some, you know, conviction, which

         20  I take it is based on such things as offers extended

         21  and the like.

         22                 They have testified twice, Mr. Wohl

         23  has testified twice, and Gene Lopez has submitted

         24  testimony as well with respect to what could be

         25  accomplished with a relatively modest increase in
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          2  staff, primarily investigators, in terms of cutting

          3  into the backlog. You know, you can stand on

          4  ceremony and want to get, and I think you should

          5  get, you know, the usual submission, but when they

          6  have testified twice before the Council and have

          7  written testimony by the Executive Director, it

          8  seems to me that that can be taken seriously if you

          9  really want to do it.

         10                 MR. HARDING: I want to underscore

         11  what I said before, which is that I have no adverse

         12  reaction to taking a look at requests by the CCRB

         13  for additional staff, for investigative staff or

         14  things like that. I have no adverse reaction to

         15  doing that. I haven't been asked to do it by the

         16  agency who is asking for it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Excuse me,

         18  gentlemen. Mr. Leffler, it is a fair question for

         19  you to raise at another time at an oversight

         20  hearing, however we do have to go on. I apologize

         21  but we do have to go on.

         22                 Ms. Clarke.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Chairman.

         25                 Mr. Director, when you were here the
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          2  last time I raised the issue of the early

          3  intervention program in DMH that you transferred

          4  with the -- I don't want to say pretext because it

          5  is probably reality, match.

          6                 MR. HARDING: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Have you

          8  thought of what will happen to these youngsters from

          9  birth through four if in fact from the rest of their

         10  lives they are totally disabled? What will happen

         11  after age four when they age out, what will happen

         12  to the money if a merger doesn't take place?

         13                 MR. HARDING: I am not sure what that

         14  -- early intervention --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Early

         16  intervention is a part of money for children

         17  identified to have disabilities at birth, and early

         18  intervention is a mandate by the federal government

         19  --

         20                 MR. HARDING: It deals with an age

         21  class, right?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Yes, but --

         23                 MR. HARDING: From birth to age three

         24  or four.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: But the same
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          2  agency administers all money for persons with

          3  disability, so if at age four it becomes a lifelong

          4  condition, what will you do with the money then,

          5  since the money follows the individual?

          6                 MR. HARDING: Okay, I think I

          7  understand the question. The program that we did in

          8  the budget was to move the EI portion of it to the

          9  Department of Health, that was done because we would

         10  then have the opportunity to get the matching money

         11  from the state so we could continue to provide the

         12  essential services, no question that EI is an

         13  essential service, but apropos of items that I have

         14  said to several of your colleagues today, if there

         15  is an ability to generate financial assistance from

         16  other sources, let's take advantage of those sources

         17  as it relates to children, students, that need

         18  assistance beyond the EI amount, there has been

         19  nothing in the budget addressing moving that to the

         20  Department of Health. What is hoped for is within

         21  some reasonable period of time those two agencies

         22  would merge. I believe there is a bill before the

         23  Council to do that, and we could provide those core

         24  services out of one entity.

         25                 But there is nothing in the budget
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          2  that speaks to that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Why couldn't

          4  you have done what other localities have done? One

          5  agency bills but the money remains in the agency to

          6  which it has been designated, why haven't you done

          7  that?

          8                 The fact that if you wanted to

          9  negotiate in good faith a merger, why do you take a

         10  part of that agency, even before one gets to the

         11  table to decide what will happen with the Department

         12  of Public Health and Mental Health together?

         13                 MR. HARDING: I am not negotiating the

         14  merger bill, so I can't speak to that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: You are not

         16  merging, but you took the money out so it means you

         17  have a hand in it.

         18                 MR. HARDING: It is a great

         19  opportunity to access other funds, other than City

         20  tax levy funds.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: It would not

         22  be a lost opportunity because you could still do

         23  that. The Department of Health could essentially

         24  have done that.

         25                 MR. HARDING: I am not convinced of
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          2  that, but I will take a look at what you are saying

          3  about the notion of billing but providing the

          4  services to other agencies. I am not sure if that is

          5  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I am convinced

          7  because I do my homework, I never speak here unless

          8  I have done my homework and you will probably get to

          9  know that about me as a Council member.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 MR. HARDING: You are welcome.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: Mr. Perkins, this

         13  is the last question and then we are concluding.

         14                 Mr. Perkins.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

         16  to get some clarification on the CUNY voucher

         17  program. My understanding is that we spend about $79

         18  million in total for the community colleges, and the

         19  University spends about $40 million throughout the

         20  whole system. Now, are you suggesting that the 60 to

         21  70 million number that you gave me, which is about

         22  90 percent of the total budget for the community

         23  colleges is going to be diverted to remediation?

         24                 MR. HARDING: No. Let me redo it so

         25  that I am more clear.
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          2                 The remediation program already

          3  exists, it has been enacted by the members of the

          4  Board of Trustees.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That is the

          6  voucher program? I just want to be clear.

          7                 MR. HARDING: Whatever the pool of

          8  students that will exist to do remediation, there is

          9  a cost associated with providing that service per

         10  student. That cost exists, assuming there were no

         11  voucher programs, that cost would exist to the

         12  University system, to CUNY, so whatever that cost

         13  is, that cost would go with the student. If the

         14  student chooses to have the remediation performed at

         15  CUNY, CUNY would still concur the cost of providing

         16  that service to the student on campus or wherever

         17  they choose to do it. If the student chooses to go

         18  to another college or a private entity that would

         19  offer it, whatever the cost CUNY would incur to

         20  provide that service to the students in-house, it

         21  would provide to the other college or to the other

         22  entity. We are not asking CUNY to subsidize to a

         23  greater degree amounts that they are paying to do it

         24  in-house.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You do
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          2  realize when that money leaves it hurts the system?

          3                 MR. HARDING: No, I don't realize that

          4  because the cost --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The money

          6  that the student takes with them to Kaplan or one of

          7  the other private concerns --

          8                 MR. HARDING: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It doesn't

         10  stay with the system.

         11                 MR. HARDING: But CUNY then doesn't

         12  have to provide the service. If CUNY has to pay a

         13  dollar certain to provide a service for a student,

         14  that cost is going to be the same, whether it

         15  provides it to the student on campus or it provides

         16  it to the student at a different facility.

         17                 The only argument that could be made

         18  that the University has been financially harmed by

         19  this, is if you are saying in a voucher program the

         20  student can go wherever he or she would like,

         21  whether CUNY or Kaplan or another college, and

         22  whatever the cost of those services are, CUNY has to

         23  pay, so now the other college or Kaplan charges more

         24  than CUNY charges, and then CUNY would be adversely

         25  harmed. But the charge would be limited to whatever
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          2  CUNY has to pay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I think that

          4  in any case you are downsizing the system and that

          5  hurts the system and you are creating another system

          6  that doesn't quite help the system, so it doesn't

          7  quite help CUNY. So, I think the privatization does

          8  not help the public effort that we are trying to

          9  live up to.

         10                 Let me ask you one final question.

         11  The Mayor's CUNY Task Force, what is the status of

         12  that task force right now?

         13                 MR. HARDING: I am not a participant

         14  of that. I don't know what the status of that is.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you know

         16  anything about the funding for the task force?

         17                 MR. HARDING: I don't, but certainly I

         18  can provide you with what the funding for that task

         19  force is.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you know

         21  what agency it is flowing through?

         22                 MR. HARDING: I don't have the details

         23  of it, but it is not something that would be

         24  terribly difficult to provide to you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: All right,
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          2  thank you.

          3                 MR. HARDING: My pleasure.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: All right. Thank

          5  you, ladies and gentlemen.

          6                 MR. HARDING: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: We have concluded

          8  this portion of the hearing.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Director.

         10                 We will take a four-minute and

         11  twenty-nine second recess between the leaving of OMB

         12  and the arrival of the Department of Finance, which

         13  is in the back.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 10:15 a.m.)
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